IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,481

WILLIAM L. THOMPSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELISSA MINSK DONOHO Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 955700 Office of the CCRC-South 1444 Biscayne Blvd Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132-1422 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR MR. THOMPSON

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal after summary denial of Mr. Thompson's motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Thompson and his co-defendant Rocco James Surace were charged by a grand jury of Dade County, Florida, with the first-degree murder, kidnapping, and involuntary sexual assault of Sally Ivestor on April 14, 1976. Mr. Thompson pled guilty to these charges and was sentenced to death on June 24, 1976, for the first-degree murder charge; he was sentenced to life imprisonment on the kidnapping and sexual assault charges, both sentences to run concurrent to his death sentence. In support of the death sentence, the trial court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the capital felony was committed while Mr. Thompson was involved in involuntary sexual battery and kidnapping; (2) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. In mitigation, the trial court found that Mr. Thompson did not have a significant history of criminal activity and his age of twenty-four. On appeal, this Court allowed Mr. Thompson to withdraw his guilty plea and remanded the case for a new trial. Thompson v. State, 351 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 998 (1978).

During his second trial, Mr. Thompson again entered a guilty plea. The jury recommended the death penalty, and the trial judge accepted this recommendation. In aggravation, the trial court found that the capital felony was committed during the course of a felony and that the crime was heinous, atrocious, or

cruel. In mitigation, the court found that Mr. Thompson had no significant history of criminal activity and that he was twenty-four at the time of the crime. Mr. Thompson's guilty plea and death sentence were affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. Thompson v. State, 389 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 1980).

Mr. Thompson filed his first Rule 3.850 motion, arguing that he was forced by his co-defendant to claim full responsibility for the crime and that his death sentence is disproportionate because his more culpable co-defendant received a life sentence. The circuit court denied relief, and this Court affirmed. Thompson v. State, 410 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1982). Mr. Thompson then sought habeas corpus relief in the United States District Court and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Relief was denied. Thompson v. Wainwright, 787 F.2d 1447 (11th Cir. 1986).

Mr. Thompson filed his second Rule 3.850 motion, asserting that the trial judge failed to allow presentation of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances before the jury. The circuit court denied relief, but this Court reversed under <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), and remanded for resentencing. <u>Thompson v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 485 U.S. 960 (1988).

At resentencing, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of seven to five. The sentencing judge accepted the jury's recommendation and found the following four aggravating

circumstances: (1) the crime was committed during the course of a felony; (2) the crime was committed for financial gain; (3) the crime was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (4) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Although two other trial judges had found mitigating circumstances, Judge S. Peter Capua failed to find any statutory or nonstatutory mitigation. Mr. Thompson received consecutive life sentences for the remaining counts of the indictment. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the death sentence but rejected the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor. Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 966 (1993).

On November 8, 1995, Mr. Thompson filed his third Rule 3.850 motion alleging forty-five claims for relief including ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Thompson specifically pled that his motion was incomplete due to the State's failure to fully comply with Chapter 119. Without ordering an answer from the State, the circuit court summarily denied relief on December 12, 1995, finding that "the defendant has not raised any issue which is new to the case or was unknown to him at the time of his prior appeals or at the time of filing his prior Rule Three motions." (PC-R. 295-96). While Mr. Thompson's appeal was pending before this Court, the State filed

a Motion to Relinquish Jurisdiction. The State argued that "the balance of the claims in the amended motion for post-conviction relief relate to the second resentencing proceedings and contain allegations such as ineffective assistance of counsel at said proceeding. No prior motions for post-conviction relief with respect to the second resentencing had been filed." (PC-R2. 7). This Court granted the State's motion and relinquished jurisdiction to the circuit court to conduct a hearing in accordance with Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

On October 16, 1996, the State filed a Preliminary Response to Defendant's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence. The State argued that the majority of the claims in Mr. Thompson's Motion to Vacate challenged the 1978 resentencing proceeding and were barred by the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850. The State argued that the remaining claims were either insufficiently pled or presented no basis for relief. Judge Robbie Barr scheduled a hearing for October 17, 1996, but refused to hear legal argument from counsel on the Motion to Vacate, stating that she was unfamiliar with the case (PC-R2. 870). Judge Barr scheduled another hearing for October 31, 1996.

At the October 31st hearing, counsel for Mr. Thompson told the court that the State had not fully complied with Mr. Thompson's public records requests and that a Chapter 119 hearing

should be held (PC-R2. 42).<sup>1</sup> The State argued that Mr. Thompson had waived his right to public records and that the Motion to Vacate should be summarily denied after a <u>Huff</u> hearing (PC-R2. 42). Judge Barr instructed the State to prepare an order stating that Mr. Thompson had waived his right to public records or had received full compliance (PC-R2. 43). Off the record, Judge Barr asked the State whether she could summarily deny the Motion to Vacate after holding a <u>Huff</u> hearing (PC-R. 43). Judge Barr then scheduled a <u>Huff</u> hearing for November 14, 1996.

On November 8, 1996, counsel for Mr. Thompson filed a Motion to Disqualify the Judge, alleging that Mr. Thompson had a wellgrounded fear that he would not receive a fair hearing based on Judge Barr's comments at the October 31st hearing indicating that she had already prejudged the issues in his case and decided to summarily deny the Motion to Vacate before she had heard legal arguments on Mr. Thompson's entitlement to relief. The State filed its Response to Motion to Disqualify on November 22, 1996. The Motion to Disqualify was denied on January 27, 1997.

On February 5, 1997, Mr. Thompson filed a Notice of Filing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The transcript of the October 31, 1996, status hearing is missing from the record on appeal. Counsel has requested that this hearing be transcribed and provided as soon as possible (see Defendant's Motion to Supplement the Record filed simultaneously with this brief). Counsel has cited Mr. Thompson's Motion to Disqualify Judge which refers to the October 31st proceedings.

Public Records Requests. On February 6, 1997, Judge Barr conducted a <u>Huff</u> hearing and thereafter denied Mr. Thompson's Motion to Vacate on March 6, 1997. On May 7, 1997, Mr. Thompson filed a Motion to Hold in Abeyance or to Relinquish Jurisdiction with this Court, asserting that Judge Barr had erred in denying a Chapter 119 hearing on the grounds that "Chapter 119 violations, if any, may have formed the basis for an abatement, but do not constitute grounds for postconviction relief." (PC-R2. 282). Judge Barr also determined that Mr. Thompson had waived his public records requests (<u>Id</u>.). This Court denied the Motion on June 2, 1997. Mr. Thompson timely filed a notice of appeal.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Thompson has been denied access to public records in the possession of State agencies. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Thompson a Chapter 119 hearing at which his counsel could question the State agencies regarding their noncompliance with outstanding public records requests.

2. Mr. Thompson was denied his due process right to a fair tribunal because the circuit court prejudged his entitlement to relief. Circuit Judge Robbie Barr indicated at a status hearing that she had already decided to summarily deny Mr. Thompson's Motion to Vacate before she conducted a <u>Huff</u> hearing at which counsel could present legal argument regarding Mr. Thompson's right to an evidentiary hearing.

3. The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr. Thompson's Motion to Vacate. This is Mr. Thompson's first Rule 3.850 motion since his 1989 resentencing; he pled detailed claims asserting the ineffective assistance of counsel, prosecutorial misconduct, <u>Hitchcock</u> error, and other violations of his Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights. Mr. Thompson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing because the files and records in his case do not conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief. In addition, the attachments to the circuit court order denying relief are insufficient to justify summary denial in this case.

4. Mr. Thompson was denied a proper direct appeal because

no reliable transcript of his capital trial exists.

5. Mr. Thompson's Sixth Amendment rights were violated because his counsel had a conflict of interest.

6. The State withheld material exculpatory evidence and/or presented false testimony in violation of Mr. Thompson's Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights. Public records received by post-conviction counsel indicate that the State misrepresented the circumstances surrounding the unavailability of the most important State witness, Barbara Savage. As a result of the State's misconduct, the circuit court allowed the State to read Ms. Savage's 1978 testimony at Mr. Thompson's resentencing in violation of Mr. Thompson's right to a fair trial.

7. The circuit court erred in allowing the State to read Ms. Savage's prior testimony at Mr. Thompson's resentencing. As a result of this ruling, the <u>Hitchcock</u> error that caused this Court to remand Mr. Thompson's case was repeated at his 1989 resentencing.

8. The circuit court erred in excluding mitigating evidence relevant to rebut the State's argument on nonstatutory aggravating factors.

9. Mr. Thompson was denied a fair adversarial testing. He was prejudiced by trial counsel's ineffectiveness and State misconduct and erroneous rulings of the trial court. As a result of cumulative errors, Mr. Thompson was sentenced to death in

violation of his Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

10 Mr. Thompson's death sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance in violation of his Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

11. The jury instructions in this case unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to Mr. Thompson to prove that he is entitled to a life sentence in violation of his Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

12. The jury that sentenced Mr. Thompson to death was inaccurately misled about its role in sentencing by inaccurate jury instructions that diluted its sense of responsibility.

13. The jury that sentenced Mr. Thompson to death was improperly instructed on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor. This Court's harmless error analysis on direct appeal was constitutionally deficient.

14. Mr. Thompson was incompetent to make a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea. The plea colloquy conducted by the trial court was constitutionally deficient. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to protect Mr. Thompson's rights.

15. The trial court erred in permitting the introduction of nonstatutory aggravating factors and in considering the same acts to support different aggravating factors.

16. The rule prohibiting Mr. Thompson's lawyers from

interviewing jurors to determine the existence of claims that may entitle him to relief violates Mr. Thompson's First, sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

17. Mr. Thompson is insane to be executed.

18. Execution in Florida's electric chair constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

## ARGUMENT I

ACCESS TO PUBLIC RECORDS PERTAINING TO MR. THOMPSON'S CASE IN THE POSSESSION OF CERTAIN STATE AGENCIES HAS BEEN DENIED IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT, THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT, AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. THOMPSON'S PUBLIC RECORDS CLAIM WITHOUT PROVIDING HIM THE OPPORTUNITY TO QUESTION PUBLIC RECORDS CUSTODIANS AT A CHAPTER 119 HEARING.

Mr. Thompson has been denied effective legal representation because public records have not been received by his postconviction counsel. On March 6, 1997, Judge Robbie Barr denied Mr. Thompson's Motion to Vacate and denied a hearing on Mr. Thompson's Chapter 119 requests, despite the fact that Mr. Thompson's Rule 3.850 motion listed State agencies that had not fully complied with Chapter 119. The order dismissing Mr.

Thompson's public records claim states:

This Court notes that the public records requests to the various agencies were dated February 5, 1997. The <u>Huff</u> hearing in this matter was held on February 6, 1997. On page 17 of the State's Preliminary Response to Defendant's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments, etc., the State avers that the Office of the State Attorney previously provided a representative of CCR over 3300 pages of documents and that Metro-Dade Police Records Bureau provided the CCR with over 100 This court previously ruled documents. (orally, but not reduced to writing because that oral ruling resulted in a motion to disqualify) that the State had either complied with its 119 obligations or that Defendant's delay in seeking them constituted a waiver of his rights. Chapter 119

violations, if any, may have formed the basis for an abatement, but do not constitute grounds for postconviction relief in this case. <u>Lopez v. Singletary</u>, 634 So. 2d 1056 (Fla. 1993).

# (PC-R2. 282).

At no time did Mr. Thompson waive his right to receive public records. Under the two-year filing limitation period of Rule 3.850, Mr. Thompson filed his initial Motion to Vacate on May 23, 1995, six months before the filing date as a good-faith effort to initiate post-conviction litigation and compel compliance with Chapter 119. Counsel informed the court that the motion was incomplete due to the State's failure to timely comply with public records requests.<sup>2</sup> Mr. Thompson filed an Amended Motion to Vacate on November 8, 1995, again informing the circuit court that the State had not fully complied with Mr. Thompson's public records requests. Without addressing Mr. Thompson's public records claim, the circuit court summarily denied his Motion to Vacate on December 12, 1995.

Upon the State's motion, this Court remanded the case for a <u>Huff</u> hearing. At the October 31, 1996, status hearing, counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mr. Thompson listed the following State agencies that had not fully complied with Chapter 119: Dade County Circuit Court Clerk; Dade County State Attorney; Metro-Dade Police Department; Florida Parole Commission; Florida Department of Law Enforcement; North Miami Beach Police Department; Dade County Jail; Prison; Florida Florida Department State of Corrections.

for Mr. Thompson told the court, upon the court's inquiry, of the proper procedure to follow in Mr. Thompson's case. Counsel informed the court that a Chapter 119 hearing was necessary because Mr. Thompson had not received all of the public records to which he is entitled; counsel explained that she must be given the opportunity to question the records custodians of the State agencies to determine what they had done in response to her records requests (PC-R2. 42). The State argued that the State Attorney's Office and the Metro-Dade Police Department had fully complied, and, as proof, the State offered copying receipts from those two agencies.<sup>3</sup> Judge Barr ignored counsel's argument that the State Attorney could not vouch for the Metro-Dade Police Department and that counsel must be given the opportunity to question the records custodians from each agency. Judge Barr ignored counsel's argument about the need for a Chapter 119 hearing and accepted the State's unsupported and contradictory position that Mr. Thompson had waived his right to public records or that the State had fully complied with his requests. Each

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Judge Barr revealed her misunderstanding of public records litigation when she assumed that these two State agencies had complied with the records requests because the State Attorney had copying The fact that an agency has provided some receipts. records does not prove that it is in full compliance with Chapter 119. In addition, the State Attorney cannot vouch for compliance by the Metro-Dade Police Department or other agencies who were not represented at the October 31st hearing.

time counsel has appeared before Judge Barr, counsel sought a hearing on Mr. Thompson's public records requests; however, Judge Barr repeatedly ignored counsel's requests. Contrary to the State's argument and Judge Barr's finding, Mr. Thompson did not waive his right to public records and the State has not fully complied with his requests.

On February 5, 1997, Mr. Thompson re-requested public records from the following agencies: Office of the Attorney General; Dade County Jail; Department of Corrections; Clerk of Court; Florida Department of Law Enforcement; Office of the Medical Examiner; Metro-Dade Police Department; Miami Police Department; and the Office of the State Attorney. Contrary to the circuit court order denying relief, these were not Mr. Thompson's first requests for public records but were sent to agencies that had not fully complied with Chapter 119 after Mr. Thompson's initial requests in 1995. The fact that the State Attorney's Office and the Metro-Dade Police Department, according to the State's argument at the October 31st hearing, had already provided records proves that a request had already been made before February 1997. In addition, FDLE, the Attorney General's Office, and the State Attorney, in their written responses to Mr. Thompson's requests, argued that Mr. Thompson had already requested records in April 1995. The State cannot simultaneously argue that Mr. Thompson waived his right to public records and

complain that the 1997 letters repeat requests that were made two years earlier. Rather than initiate civil litigation against each individual agency, Mr. Thompson sought to compel compliance with Chapter 119 by resending his public records requests in 1997. These letters were sent after Mr. Thompson alerted the circuit court that the agencies were in noncompliance by including the public records claim in his May 1995 Motion to Vacate and his November 1995 Amended Motion to Vacate. Mr. Thompson could not file a Motion to Compel Compliance because his Motion to Disqualify Judge was pending from November 8, 1996, until January 27, 1997; Mr. Thompson was forced to wait until that Motion had been resolved before filing any other pleadings with Judge Barr. The State's own admissions in the responses to Mr. Thompson's 1997 letters reveal that Mr. Thompson diligently sought the public records to which he is entitled and prove that he did not waive his right to public records.

On March 28, 1997, the Department of Corrections filed a Notice of Compliance and Objection and Motion for Protective Order. DOC objected that the request letters were not signed by an attorney; claimed exemptions from disclosure; objected to certain of Mr. Thompson's requests as unduly burdensome; and indicated that the records would be available to view after March 31, 1997. DOC failed to state whether it had provided Mr. Thompson with any public records.

On April 3, 1997, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement filed an Objection and Motion for Protective Order. FDLE objected to the fact that the public records requests had not been signed by an attorney. FDLE also objected that Mr. Thompson's first request for records had been made on April 22, 1995. FDLE also objected to some requests as "burdensome and vague" and claimed exemptions.

On April 4, 1997, the Office of the Attorney General filed a Notice of Filing and a letter indicating that the records in its possession had already been reviewed in December 1995. The Attorney General also objected that Rule 3.852 could not be used "as a basis for renewing requests that have been previously initiated."

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