IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 87,481 and 88,321

WILLIAM L. THOMPSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

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

Insofar as the habeas corpus petition also raises ineffective assistance of trial counsel with respect to this issue, the claim is barred as claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel cannot be raised on habeas corpus. Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 10 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failure to object to standard jury instructions which had been upheld at the time by this Court. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d at 1258; Downs v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S234.

The issue of the unconstitutionality of the HAC jury instructions was, however, raised on appeal and rejected:

On rehearing, Thompson now asserts that he is entitled to a new sentencing hearing because the jury instruction given on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor was defective under the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in Espinosa v. Florida, --- U.S. ---, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed. 2d 854 (1992). We disagree. Given the substantial evidence in the establishing the manner in which the victim was murdered, we find that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel under definition of the terms and beyond reasonable doubt. Therefore, any error in the instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and did not affect the sentence recommended by the jury and imposed by the judge. Further, we note that Thompson's trial counsel did not object to the instruction read to the jury and thus failed to preserve the issue for appeal. See Sochor v. Florida, ---U.S. ---, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 119 L.Ed. 2d 326 We find that this claim procedurally barred. Kennedy v. Singletary, 602 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 1992). We also conclude the reading to the jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious, not, aggravator does under these circumstances, mandate a new sentencing hearing under Espinosa.

619 So. 2d at 266-67. Again, issues which were raised and rejected on direct appeal are procedurally barred. <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d at 1258.

XIV. THE CLAIM WITH RESPECT TO THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF DEFENDANT'S 1978 PLEA OF GUILTY WERE PROPERLY FOUND TO BE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant contends that his 1978 pleas of guilty to the instant offenses were not valid, as he was not competent at that time, and, his 1978 trial counsel did not adequately investigate and did not adequately inform the Defendant of the consequences of his plea. The lower court properly found these claims to be procedurally barred, as they could have and should have been raised: a) on direct appeal of the convictions and, in fact, were in part raised during the prior 1980 direct appeal of the guilty plea; and, b) during the two prior post-conviction proceedings which were conducted in 1982 and 1987. (SPCR. 283). Indeed, the State would note that on direct appeal of the guilty plea, this Court, in light of four (4) prior findings of sanity and competence, by two (2) psychologists and two (2) psychiatrists, determined:

We find that the trial court properly inquired into the competency of the appellant at the time he entered his second guilty plea in this case.

Thompson v. State, 389 So. 2d 197, 199 (Fla. 1980).

Moreover, during the second 1987 post-conviction proceedings with respect to the guilty plea at issue herein, this Court held the contentions raised herein to be procedurally barred:

On Mr. Thompson's remaining contention, we find that procedural default operates to bar any challenge here; these issues have been presented and have been previously resolved in the federal courts when the State waived exhaustion of state remedies.

Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 176 (Fla. 1987). The procedurally barred contentions referenced in that decision were, inter alia: 1) ineffective assistance of counsel relating to the entry of the guilty plea; 2) competency to stand trial; 3) failure to appoint additional psychiatric experts; and, 4) coercion of the guilty plea. Said issues had been rejected after a full evidentiary hearing. Thompson v. Wainwright, 787 F. 2d 1447 (11th Cir. 1986).

The lower court thus properly found the instant claims to be procedurally barred, as they were not only successive and should have been, or were in fact, raised in prior proceedings, but were also time barred. There are no claims of newly discovered evidence with respect to this issue. See Downs, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S233:

. . . Downs' initial sentence and conviction became final in 1980. Rule 3.850 expressly provides: "Any person whose judgment and sentence became final prior to January 1, 1985, shall have until January 1, 1987, to file a motion in accordance with this rule." Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 (1992). Accordingly, under rule 3.850, Downs had until January 1, 1987, at the latest, to request postconviction relief as far as the issue of guilt is concerned, unless he establishes the existence of newly discovered evidence. See Bolender v. State, 658 So. 2d 82, 85 (Fla. 1995). definition, newly discovered evidence concerns facts that were "unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial" and which could not have been discovered by the defendant or counsel through the use of due diligence. See Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 691 (Fla. 1998). Because we find Downs was aware at the time of trial of the evidence he now claims is newly discovered, his claim for ineffective assistance of guilt-phase counsel based on newly discovered evidence is procedurally barred. [FN. 11] Accordingly, we find no error in the trial court's summary denial of this claim.

. . .

[FN. 11] Downs also argues that to the extent this Court finds this claim should have been initial raised in the 3.850 motion, postconviction counsel rendered ineffective assistance for failing to do so. However, we held that claims for ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel do not constitute a valid basis for relief. See Lambrix v. State, 698 So.2 d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1064 (1998).

See also Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996); Zeigler
v. State, 654 So. 2d 1162, 1164-65 (Fla. 1995); Stewart v. State,
632 So. 2d 59, 61 (Fla. 1993); Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 458
(Fla. 1992).

The Appellant has also raised a number of variations of the instant claim in his petition for writ of habeas corpus, issues IV through VIII, inclusive, and issues X and XII. The State would note that this is the second state petition for writ of habeas corpus with respect to issues relating to the 1978 guilty plea. See Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 174 (Fla. 1987). The claims of

ineffective assistance of prior appellate counsel are thus barred, as they are successive. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d at 584-85. To the extent that Appellant has couched said claims in terms of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel on resentencing or prior post-conviction counsel, such allegations do not lift the bar. Appellate counsel on resentencing can not be deemed ineffective for failing to raise procedurally barred claims. Lopez v. Singeltary, supra. Likewise, claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel do not constitute a valid basis for relief. Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d at 248; Downs, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S235, n. 11.

XV. THE CLAIM OF PRESENTATION OF NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATORS WAS PROPERLY FOUND TO BE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant first contends that the resentencing jury was presented with non-statutory aggravating circumstances in the form of: 1) Defendant's false testimony at the trial of his co-defendant; 2) the argument that Defendant had been previously sentenced to death; and, 3) evidence of uncharged crimes presented through the State's rebuttal psychiatric testimony. The lower court properly found these claims procedurally barred as they are direct appeal issues. (SPCR. 287).

First, with respect to the presentation of Defendant's

testimony at his co-defendant's trial, appellate counsel in fact raised this issue in Claim III of the direct appeal of the resentencing herein. (SPCR. 82-85). This Court rejected the claim on the merits as follows:

Thompson's third claim involves admissibility of his prior testimony given at the trial of his codefendant, Rocco Surace. At the Surace trial, Thompson testified that he alone was responsible for the beating death of the victim. It is argued that this testimony helped to establish as an additional nonstatutory aggravating circumstance that Thompson had helped his equally guilty codefendant avoid the death penalty and, ultimately, a mandatory minimum sentence. reject this contention and find that Thompson's inconsistent testimony met requirements of section 90.801(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1987), and was admissible. prior testimony was also admissible to support the State's case and to rebut Thompson's defense. See Johnson v. State, 465 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 865, 106 S.Ct. 186, 88 L.Ed.2d 155 (1985).

Thompson, 619 So. 2d at 265-66.

Post conviction proceedings are not a second appeal, and issues raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990); Harvey v. Dugger, Francis v. Barton, supra.

With respect to the additional arguments presented in support of the instant claim, the State would note that,"it is not

appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue." Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d at 295. See also, Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995)(defendant could not relitigate in postconviction motion, issue which was considered and rejected on direct appeal, even though defendant recharacterized the issue). In any event, the State would note that the prosecutor's argument with respect to the falsity of the Defendant's testifying at the codefendant trial was in rebuttal to the Defendant's claim that he should receive the same sentence as his co-defendant because they were equally culpable. The prosecutor was merely pointing out that the co-defendant received a lesser sentence due to Thompson having taken the full responsibility for the crime and denying the codefendant's culpability at the latter's trial. See pp. 62-63 herein. There was thus no impropriety.

Moreover, the Appellant's additional arguments are also without merit. With respect to the prosecutor's comment that defendant had been previously sentenced to death, Appellant has neglected to mention that the prosecutor immediately added: "Now, that should have no bearing on what you do, because this jury will decide what's to be done. The past is the past." (R3. 3058). It should also be noted that at the commencement of its resentencing case, the Defendant had presented extensive psycho social history by Dr. Marina. The latter had, on direct examination, stated that

Defendant "had been on death row for 12 years." (R3. 2506). The Defendant had also presented testimony from a multitude of attorneys and judges who were involved in his prior cases. Moreover, Defendant's self report to yet another mental health expert, Dr. Haber, had detailed the sequence of his convictions and resentencings, along with the reasons for the reversal of the prior proceedings. (R3. 2958-59). Again, there was no impropriety.

Finally, with respect to evidence of uncharged crimes, the State would note that this evidence, which was presented in rebuttal, was also proper. Defense witness, Dr. Marina, had relied upon the Defendant's report of his legal and criminal history; she mentioned a prior history of vagrancy, forgery and an escape attempt where Defendant had stabbed himself. (R3. 2506, 2529; 3538). Dr. Marina opined that Defendant was impulsive and had poor control. (R3. 2524-25). Another defense witness, Dr. Carbonnel, had similarly relied upon Defendant's report of his criminal history. This witness testified that the Defendant was a follower; as seen by Defendant's "history that indicates that he is not a mean person;" "He doesn't have a violent history. I think he has a forgery, a vagrancy and a loitering." (R3. 80-81). The State then presented another self-report of the Defendant, wherein he had admitted to committing armed robberies.

Evidence of uncharged crimes to rebut alleged mitigating factors of a lack of substantial or violent criminal history and having been dominated by the co-defendant, is proper and does not constitute error. Washington v. State, 362 So. 2d 658, 666 (Fla. 1978); Hildwin v. State, 531 So. 2d 124, 127-28 (Fla. 1988)("We hold that during the penalty phase of a capital case, the State may rebut defense evidence of the Defendant's non violent nature by direct evidence of specific acts of violence committed by the Defendant provided, however, that in the absence of a conviction for any such acts, the jury shall not be told of any arrests or criminal charges arising therefrom."). As is abundantly clear from the above, proper rebuttal to the Defendant's evidence and arguments does not constitute presentation of non-statutory aggravating The instant claim was properly found to be procedurally barred, and is also without merit.

The Appellant also complains that there were no "merger" jury instructions and that the aggravating factors could thus have been "doubled". The lower court's finding of procedural bar was also proper with respect to this claim, as such a claim could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d at 1256; Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d at 1335. To the extent that the Appellant claims that the issue was not preserved by trial counsel, the State notes that at the time of this 1989 resentencing, "This

issue was governed by Suarez v. State, 481 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1178 (1986), in which we determined that the failure to instruct a jury on duplicative aggravating factors is not reversible error when the trial court does not give the factors double weight in its sentencing order." Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730, 734 (Fla. 1994). See also, Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1006 (Fla. 1994)(the holding in Castro v. State, 592 So. 2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992) that limiting jury instructions are proper when requested is "prospective" only). Moreover, contrary to the Appellant's claim, the HAC and CCP aggravating circumstances are not duplicative. See Squires v. State, 450 So. 2d 208, 212 (Fla. The failure to "preserve" the instant claim was thus not deficient conduct, and the claim of ineffectiveness in this regard is without merit. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1256; Downs v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S.234 n.5.

Finally, the Defendant's conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, contained in issues XXVII and XXVIII of the petition for writ of habeas corpus with respect to the above claims, are also without merit. Appellate counsel did in fact raise the claim of alleged presentation of non-statutory aggravating evidence. To the extent that the Defendant complains of unpreserved arguments which were not raised on appeal, appellate counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for raising unpreserved and

non-meritorious issues. <u>Lopez v. Singletary</u>, <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, supra.

XVI. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE CLAIM WITH RESPECT TO JURY INTERVIEWS TO BE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Appellant contends that the rule prohibiting defense counsel from interviewing jurors, to explore misconduct, is invalid. The lower court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred, as it should have been raised on direct appeal. (SPCR. 287-8). See, e.g. Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 94-95 (Fla. 1991); State v. Hamilton, 574 So. 2d 124, 130 (Fla. 1991).

XVII. THE CLAIM OF INSANITY WAS NOT RAISED IN THE LOWER COURT AND IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The Defendant claims that he is insane to be executed, in violation of Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399 (1986). This claim was not raised in the court below and is thus procedurally barred.

Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 910 (Fla. 1988)(claims which are not raised in Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 motion in the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal thereof, and are procedurally barred.). Moreover, as conceded by the Appellant, the claim is also insufficient.

XVIII. CLAIM OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE WITH RESPECT TO 1998 EXECUTIONS WAS NOT RAISED IN THE LOWER COURT AND IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Appellant claims that four executions conducted in the electric chair in 1998 demonstrate that the use of electrocution is cruel and unusual. The instant claim is barred as it was not raised in the post-conviction court below. <u>Doyle</u>, 526 So. 2d at 911.

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